Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: October 22, 2020 REVISED: February 3, 2021 ACCEPTED: March 9, 2021 PUBLISHED: April 20, 2021

Sensitivity of the SHiP experiment to light dark matter



The SHiP collaboration

C. Ahdida,⁴⁴ A. Akmete,⁴⁸ R. Albanese,^{14,59,61} A. Alexandrov,^{14,32,34,59} A. Anokhina,³⁹ S. Aoki,¹⁸ G. Arduini,⁴⁴ E. Atkin,³⁸ N. Azorskiy,²⁹ J.J. Back,⁵⁴ A. Bagulya,³² F. Baaltasar Dos Santos,⁴⁴ A. Baranov,⁴⁰ F. Bardou,⁴⁴ G.J. Barker,⁵⁴ M. Battistin,⁴⁴ J. Bauche,⁴⁴ A. Bay,⁴⁶ V. Bayliss,⁵¹ G. Bencivenni,¹⁵ A.Y. Berdnikov,³⁷ Y.A. Berdnikov,³⁷ M. Bertani,¹⁵ C. Betancourt,⁴⁷ I. Bezshyiko,⁴⁷ O. Bezshyyko,⁵⁵ D. Bick,⁸ S. Bieschke,⁸ A. Blanco,²⁸ J. Boehm,⁵¹ M. Bogomilov,¹ I. Boiarska,³ K. Bondarenko,^{27,57} W.M. Bonivento,¹³ J. Borburgh,⁴⁴ A. Boyarsky,^{27,55} R. Brenner,⁴³ D. Breton,⁴ V. Büscher,¹⁰ A. Buonaura,⁴⁷ L. Buonocore,⁴⁷ S. Buontempo,¹⁴ S. Cadeddu,¹³ A. Calcaterra,¹⁵ M. Calviani,⁴⁴ M. Campanelli,⁵³ M. Casolino,⁴⁴ N. Charitonidis,⁴⁴ P. Chau,¹⁰ J. Chauveau,⁵ A. Chepurnov,³⁹ M. Chernyavskiy,³² K.-Y. Choi,²⁶ A. Chumakov,² P. Ciambrone,¹⁵ V. Cicero,¹² L. Congedo,^{11,56} K. Cornelis,⁴⁴ M. Cristinziani,⁷ A. Crupano,^{14,59} G.M. Dallavalle,¹² A. Datwyler,⁴⁷ N. D'Ambrosio,¹⁶ G. D'Appollonio,^{13,58} R. de Asmundis,¹⁴ J. De Carvalho Saraiva,²⁸ G. De Lellis, 14,34,44,59 M. de Magistris, 14,63 A. De Roeck, 44 M. De Serio, 11,56 D. De Simone,⁴⁷ L. Dedenko,³⁹ P. Dergachev,³⁴ A. Di Crescenzo,^{14,59} L. Di Giulio,⁴⁴ N. Di Marco,¹⁶ C. Dib,² H. Dijkstra,⁴⁴ V. Dmitrenko,³⁸ L.A. Dougherty,⁴⁴ A. Dolmatov,³³ D. Domenici,¹⁵ S. Donskov,³⁵ V. Drohan,⁵⁵ A. Dubreuil,⁴⁵ **O.** Durhan,⁴⁸ M. Ehlert,⁶ E. Elikkaya,⁴⁸ T. Enik,²⁹ A. Etenko,^{33,38} F. Fabbri,¹² O. Fedin,³⁶ F. Fedotovs,⁵² G. Felici,¹⁵ M. Ferrillo,⁴⁷ M. Ferro-Luzzi,⁴⁴ K. Filippov,³⁸ R.A. Fini,¹¹ P. Fonte,²⁸ C. Franco,²⁸ M. Fraser,⁴⁴ R. Fresa,^{14,62,61} R. Froeschl,⁴⁴ C. Frugiuele,⁶⁵ T. Fukuda,¹⁹ G. Galati,^{14,59} J. Gall,⁴⁴ L. Gatignon,⁴⁴ G. Gavrilov,³⁶ V. Gentile,^{14,59} B. Goddard,⁴⁴ L. Golinka-Bezshyyko,⁵⁵ A. Golovatiuk,^{14,59} V. Golovtsov,³⁶ D. Golubkov,³⁰ A. Golutvin,^{52,34} P. Gorbounov,⁴⁴ D. Gorbunov,³¹ S. Gorbunov,³² V. Gorkavenko,⁵⁵ M. Gorshenkov,³⁴ V. Grachev,³⁸ A.L. Grandchamp,⁴⁶





E. Graverini,⁴⁶ J.-L. Grenard,⁴⁴ D. Grenier,⁴⁴ V. Grichine,³² N. Gruzinskii,³⁶ A.M. Guler,⁴⁸ Yu. Guz,³⁵ G.J. Haefeli,⁴⁶ C. Hagner,⁸ H. Hakobyan,² I.W. Harris,⁴⁶ E. van Herwijnen,³⁴ C. Hessler,⁴⁴ A. Hollnagel,¹⁰ B. Hosseini,⁵² M. Hushchyn,⁴⁰ G. Iaselli,^{11,56} A. Iuliano,^{14,59} R. Jacobsson,⁴⁴ D. Joković,⁴¹ M. Jonker,⁴⁴ I. Kadenko,⁵⁵ V. Kain,⁴⁴ B. Kaiser,⁸ C. Kamiscioglu,⁴⁹ D. Karpenkov,³⁴ K. Kershaw,⁴⁴ M. Khabibullin,³¹ E. Khalikov,³⁹ G. Khaustov,³⁵ G. Khoriauli,¹⁰ A. Khotyantsev,³¹ Y.G. Kim,²³ V. Kim,^{36,37} N. Kitagawa,¹⁹ J.-W. Ko,²² K. Kodama,¹⁷ A. Kolesnikov,²⁹ D.I. Kolev,¹ V. Kolosov,³⁵ M. Komatsu,¹⁹ A. Kono,²¹ N. Konovalova,^{32,34} S. Kormannshaus,¹⁰ I. Korol,⁶ I. Korol'ko,³⁰ A. Korzenev,⁴⁵ V. Kostyukhin,⁷ E. Koukovini Platia,⁴⁴ S. Kovalenko,² I. Krasilnikova,³⁴ Y. Kudenko,^{31,38,60} E. Kurbatov,⁴⁰ P. Kurbatov,³⁴ V. Kurochka,³¹ E. Kuznetsova,³⁶ H.M. Lacker,⁶ M. Lamont,⁴⁴ G. Lanfranchi,¹⁵ O. Lantwin,^{47,34} A. Lauria,^{14,59} K.S. Lee,²⁵ K.Y. Lee,²² J.-M. Lévy,⁵ V.P. Loschiavo,^{14,61} L. Lopes,²⁸ E. Lopez Sola,⁴⁴ V. Lyubovitskij,² J. Maalmi,⁴ A. Magnan,⁵² V. Maleev,³⁶ A. Malinin,³³ F. Maltoni,^{12,57,64} Y. Manabe,¹⁹ A.K. Managadze,³⁹ M. Manfredi,⁴⁴ S. Marsh,⁴⁴ A.M. Marshall,⁵⁰ O. Mattelaer,⁶⁴ A. Mefodev,³¹ P. Mermod,⁴⁵ A. Miano,^{14,59} S. Mikado,²⁰ Yu. Mikhaylov,³⁵ D.A. Milstead,⁴² O. Mineev,³¹ A. Montanari,¹² M.C. Montesi,^{14,59} K. Morishima,¹⁹ S. Movchan,²⁹ Y. Muttoni,⁴⁴ N. Naganawa,¹⁹ M. Nakamura,¹⁹ T. Nakano,¹⁹ S. Nasybulin,³⁶ P. Ninin,⁴⁴ A. Nishio,¹⁹ A. Novikov,³⁸ B. Obinyakov,³³ S. Ogawa,²¹ N. Okateva,^{32,34} B. Opitz,⁸ J. Osborne,⁴⁴ M. Ovchynnikov,^{27,55} N. Owtscharenko,⁷ P.H. Owen,⁴⁷ P. Pacholek,⁴⁴ A. Paoloni,¹⁵ B.D. Park,²² A. Pastore,¹¹ M. Patel,^{52,34} D. Pereyma, 30 A. Perillo-Marcone, 44 G.L. Petkov, 1 K. Petridis, 50 A. Petrov, 33 D. Podgrudkov,³⁹ V. Poliakov,³⁵ N. Polukhina,^{32,34,38} J. Prieto Prieto,⁴⁴ M. Prokudin,³⁰ A. Prota,^{14,59} A. Quercia,^{14,59} A. Rademakers,⁴⁴ A. Rakai,⁴⁴ F. Ratnikov,⁴⁰ T. Rawlings,⁵¹ F. Redi,⁴⁶ S. Ricciardi,⁵¹ M. Rinaldesi,⁴⁴ Volodymyr Rodin,⁵⁵ Viktor Rodin,⁵⁵ P. Robbe,⁴ A.B. Rodrigues Cavalcante,⁴⁶ T. Roganova,³⁹ H. Rokujo,¹⁹ G. Rosa,^{14,59} T. Rovelli,^{12,57} O. Ruchayskiy,³ T. Ruf,⁴⁴ V. Samoylenko,³⁵ V. Samsonov,³⁸ F. Sanchez Galan,⁴⁴ P. Santos Diaz,⁴⁴ A. Sanz UII,⁴⁴ A. Saputi,¹⁵ O. Sato,¹⁹ E.S. Savchenko,³⁴ J.S. Schliwinski,⁶ W. Schmidt-Parzefall,⁸ N. Serra,^{47,34} S. Sgobba,⁴⁴ O. Shadura,⁵⁵ A. Shakin,³⁴ M. Shaposhnikov,⁴⁶ P. Shatalov,^{30,34} T. Shchedrina,^{32,34} L. Shchutska,⁴⁶ V. Shevchenko,^{33,34} H. Shibuya,²¹ S. Shirobokov,⁵² A. Shustov,³⁸ S.B. Silverstein,⁴² S. Simone,^{11,56} R. Simoniello,¹⁰ M. Skorokhvatov,^{38,33} S. Smirnov,³⁸ J.Y. Sohn,²² A. Sokolenko,⁵⁵ E. Solodko,⁴⁴ N. Starkov,^{32,34} L. Stoel,⁴⁴ M.E. Stramaglia,⁴⁶ D. Sukhonos,⁴⁴ Y. Suzuki,¹⁹ S. Takahashi,¹⁸ J.L. Tastet,³ P. Teterin,³⁸ S. Than Naing,³² I. Timiryasov,⁴⁶ V. Tioukov,¹⁴ D. Tommasini,⁴⁴ M. Torii,¹⁹ N. Tosi,¹² F. Tramontano,^{14,59} D. Treille,⁴⁴ R. Tsenov,^{1,29} S. Ulin,³⁸ E. Ursov,³⁹ A. Ustyuzhanin,^{40,34} Z. Uteshev,³⁸ L. Uvarov,³⁶ G. Vankova-Kirilova,¹ F. Vannucci,⁵ V. Venturi,⁴⁴ S. Vilchinski,⁵⁵ Heinz Vincke,⁴⁴ Helmut Vincke,⁴⁴ C. Visone,^{14,59} K. Vlasik,³⁸ A. Volkov,^{32,33} R. Voronkov,³² S. van Waasen,⁹ R. Wanke,¹⁰ P. Wertelaers,⁴⁴ O. Williams,⁴⁴ J.-K. Woo,²⁴ M. Wurm,¹⁰ S. Xella,³ D. Yilmaz,⁴⁹

A.U. Yilmazer,⁴⁹ C.S. Yoon,²² Yu. Zaytsev,³⁰ A. Zelenov³⁶ and J. Zimmerman⁶

¹Faculty of Physics, Sofia University, Sofia, Bulgaria

- ² Universidad Técnica Federico Santa María and Centro Científico Tecnológico de Valparaíso, Valparaíso, Chile
- $^3 \it Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark$
- ⁴LAL, Univ. Paris-Sud, CNRS/IN2P3, Université Paris-Saclay, Orsay, France
- ⁵LPNHE, IN2P3/CNRS, Sorbonne Université, Université Paris Diderot, F-75252 Paris, France
- ⁶Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany
- ⁷Physikalisches Institut, Universität Bonn, Bonn, Germany
- ⁸ Universität Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany
- ⁹Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH (KFA), Jülich, Germany
- ¹⁰Institut für Physik and PRISMA Cluster of Excellence, Johannes Gutenberg Universität Mainz, Mainz, Germany
- ¹¹Sezione INFN di Bari, Bari, Italy
- ¹²Sezione INFN di Bologna, Bologna, Italy
- ¹³Sezione INFN di Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy
- ¹⁴Sezione INFN di Napoli, Napoli, Italy
- ¹⁵Laboratori Nazionali dell'INFN di Frascati, Frascati, Italy
- ¹⁶Laboratori Nazionali dell'INFN di Gran Sasso, L'Aquila, Italy
- ¹⁷Aichi University of Education, Kariya, Japan
- $^{18} Kobe \ University, \ Kobe, \ Japan$
- ¹⁹Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan
- ²⁰College of Industrial Technology, Nihon University, Narashino, Japan
- ²¹ Toho University, Funabashi, Chiba, Japan
- ²² Physics Education Department & RINS, Gyeongsang National University, Jinju, Korea
- ²³Gwangju National University of Education,^a Gwangju, Korea
- ²⁴ Jeju National University,^a Jeju, Korea
- ²⁵Korea University, Seoul, Korea
- ²⁶Sungkyunkwan University,^a Suwon-si, Gyeong Gi-do, Korea
- ²⁷ University of Leiden, Leiden, The Netherlands
- ²⁸LIP, Laboratory of Instrumentation and Experimental Particle Physics, Portugal
- ²⁹ Joint Institute for Nuclear Research (JINR), Dubna, Russia
- ³⁰Institute of Theoretical and Experimental Physics (ITEP) NRC "Kurchatov Institute", Moscow, Russia
- ³¹Institute for Nuclear Research of the Russian Academy of Sciences (INR RAS), Moscow, Russia
- ³²P.N. Lebedev Physical Institute (LPI RAS), Moscow, Russia
- ³³National Research Centre "Kurchatov Institute", Moscow, Russia
- ³⁴National University of Science and Technology "MISiS", Moscow, Russia
- ³⁵Institute for High Energy Physics (IHEP) NRC "Kurchatov Institute", Protvino, Russia
- ³⁶Petersburg Nuclear Physics Institute (PNPI) NRC "Kurchatov Institute", Gatchina, Russia
- ³⁷St. Petersburg Polytechnic University (SPbPU),^b St. Petersburg, Russia
- ³⁸National Research Nuclear University (MEPhI), Moscow, Russia
- ³⁹Skobeltsyn Institute of Nuclear Physics of Moscow State University (SINP MSU), Moscow, Russia
- ⁴⁰ Yandex School of Data Analysis, Moscow, Russia

^aAssociated to Gyeongsang National University, Jinju, Korea.

^bAssociated to Petersburg Nuclear Physics Institute (PNPI), Gatchina, Russia.

⁴¹Institute of Physics, University of Belgrade, Serbia ⁴²Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden ⁴³ Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden ⁴⁴European Organization for Nuclear Research (CERN), Geneva, Switzerland ⁴⁵ University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland ⁴⁶École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne (EPFL), Lausanne, Switzerland ⁴⁷ Physik-Institut, Universität Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland ⁴⁸Middle East Technical University (METU). Ankara, Turkey ⁴⁹Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey ⁵⁰H.H. Wills Physics Laboratory, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom ⁵¹STFC Rutherford Appleton Laboratory, Didcot, United Kingdom ⁵²Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom ⁵³University College London, London, United Kingdom ⁵⁴ University of Warwick, Warwick, United Kingdom ⁵⁵ Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Kyiv, Ukraine ⁵⁶ Università di Bari, Bari, Italy ⁵⁷ Università di Bologna, Bologna, Italy ⁵⁸ Università di Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy ⁵⁹ Università di Napoli "Federico II", Napoli, Italy ⁶⁰Also at Moscow Institute of Physics and Technology (MIPT). Moscow Region, Russia ⁶¹Consorzio CREATE, Napoli, Italy ⁶² Università della Basilicata, Potenza, Italy ⁶³ Università di Napoli Parthenope, Napoli, Italy ⁶⁴Universitè catholique de Louvain (CP3), Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

⁶⁵Sezione INFN di Milano, Milano, Italy

E-mail: luca.buonocore@physik.uzh.ch, martina.ferrillo@cern.ch

ABSTRACT: Dark matter is a well-established theoretical addition to the Standard Model supported by many observations in modern astrophysics and cosmology. In this context, the existence of weakly interacting massive particles represents an appealing solution to the observed thermal relic in the Universe. Indeed, a large experimental campaign is ongoing for the detection of such particles in the sub-GeV mass range. Adopting the benchmark scenario for light dark matter particles produced in the decay of a dark photon, with $\alpha_D = 0.1$ and $m_{A'} = 3m_{\chi}$, we study the potential of the SHiP experiment to detect such elusive particles through its Scattering and Neutrino detector (SND). In its 5-years run, corresponding to $2 \cdot 10^{20}$ protons on target from the CERN SPS, we find that SHiP will improve the current limits in the mass range for the dark matter from about 1 MeV to 300 MeV. In particular, we show that SHiP will probe the thermal target for Majorana candidates in most of this mass window and even reach the Pseudo-Dirac thermal relic.

KEYWORDS: Beyond Standard Model, Dark matter, Fixed target experiments

ARXIV EPRINT: 2010.11057

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Vector portal	3
3	The SHiP experiment	3
4	Light dark matter production and detection	5
	4.1 Meson decay	8
	4.2 Proton Bremsstrahlung	12
	4.3 QCD prompt production	13
5	Background estimate	14
6	Sensitivity	19
7	Conclusions	21

1 Introduction

One of the main challenges in particle physics today is figuring out the microscopic identity and the cosmological origin of dark matter (DM). The theoretical landscape is broad and it spans over many orders of magnitude in the mass/coupling parameter space. A compelling idea to explore is DM as a thermal relic of the early universe. The canonical example of this scenario is the Weakly Interacting Massive Particle (WIMP), a particle in the GeV-TeV mass range interacting with the visible sector via weak-sized interactions. Searches for WIMPs are in full swing [1, 2]. However, the interesting parameter space goes beyond what has been explored in the past decade: thermal DM can be as heavy as 100 TeV or as light as a few keV. Recently, a lot of attention has been directed towards light DM (LDM) in the keV-GeV mass range [3].

Direct detection has traditionally employed the Migdal Effect [4] using liquid Argon [5, 6] or liquid Xenon [7–10], while a novel strategy based on silicon devices has allowed to design new experiments optimised for sub-GeV DM, as SENSEI [11]. Since current DM direct detection experiments searching for elastic nuclear recoils rapidly lose sensitivity once the candidate mass drops below a few GeV [1, 12], experiments at the intensity frontier represent an alternative yet appealing route and play an important role in this quest [3]. Fixed target experiments represent the prototype for such searches, although other collider experiments might be relevant in the same parameter space, as showed by the mono-photon searches at BaBar [13] and Belle II [14]. In particular, neutrino fixed target experiments could efficiently search for LDM via signatures of DM scattering with electrons and/or nuclei in their near detectors [15-26].

Here we present the sensitivity of the SHiP scattering and neutrino detector (SND), to LDM. We focus on the hypothesis that the DM couples to the SM through the exchange of a massive vector mediator, dubbed in the literature dark photon, and we have considered the cleanest signature given by the LDM-electron scattering. The scattering with nuclei, both coherent and deep inelastic scattering, although plagued by a larger neutrino background, might be an alternative detection strategy and will be the subject of a forthcoming dedicated analysis.

In a proton beam dump experiment signal yields are largely reduced as the interaction with the dark photon A' is probed twice, if compared to electron fixed target experiments which make use of search strategies based on missing energy, such as NA64 [27], or missing momentum, such as the LDMX proposal [28]. Indeed, the LDM detection is achieved through its scattering within the downstream detector. Hence, the expected LDM yield scales as $\epsilon^4 \alpha_D$ (ϵ being the interaction strength of the dark photon to SM particles and α_D the LDM-A' coupling), where a factor ϵ^2 comes from production and another $\epsilon^2 \alpha_D$ is due to detection. This has to be compared to the ϵ^2 scaling of typical missing energy/momentum experiments, which prove however to be not sensitive to LDM coupling constant α_D . Due to their higher penetrating power and enhancements from meson decay reactions and/or strong interactions, proton beams are characterised by dark photon production rates larger than the ones achievable in electron beams of comparable intensity, which in part compensate for the detection suppression factor.

The potential to directly probe the dark sector mediator coupling α_D , together with a wider sensitivity which encompasses other viable dark matter models, shows to a large extent the complementarity between the two approaches. This is even a more pressing aspect in the light of a possible discovery, as in general the observation of an excess alone is not sufficient to claim a discovery of a Dark matter particle. Indeed, intensity frontier probes do not depend on whether the particle χ produced through prompt DP decay is DM or not, as the only necessary ingredient is its stability concerning the target-detector distance. The observed excess might have an instrumental origin rather than a genuine New Physics (NP) effect. This applies also to the constraints that the SHiP experiment can place. With this regard, invaluable contribution could come from complementary DM observations from a cosmic source to unequivocally probe its thermal origin. In addition, since the SHiP experiment has a direct sensitivity to LDM interactions, we anticipate the possibility to use the time of flight measurement to uncontroversially discriminate massive NP particles from the SM neutrino background.

The paper is organised as follows: in section 2 we give a brief presentation of the model focusing on the main motivations. After introducing the SHiP experiment in section 3, we discuss the relevant production and detection mechanisms, in section 4. The detailed analysis of the neutrino background is the topic of section 5. We then pass to the discussion of the signal reviewing the main processes taken into account in our simulation. Finally, we show the main results on the sensitivity reach of the SHiP experiment in section 6 and we give our conclusions in section 7.

2 Vector portal

Thermal freeze-out can naturally explain the origin of the DM relic density for a sub-GeV particle provided the interaction with the visible sector is mediated by a new light force carrier [2, 29]. Here, we will consider as benchmark model the dark photon (DP) [30] vector portal where the DP A'_{μ} is the gauge boson of a new dark gauge group U(1)_D kinetically mixed with the photon, and a scalar χ charged under U(1)_D that serves as a DM candidate. Then, the low-energy effective Lagrangian describing the DM reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm DM} = \mathcal{L}_{A'} + \mathcal{L}_{\chi} \tag{2.1}$$

where:

$$\mathcal{L}_{A'} = -\frac{1}{4} F'_{\mu\nu} F'^{\mu\nu} + \frac{m_{A'}^2}{2} A'^{\mu} A'_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon F'_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where ϵ is the DP-photon kinetic mixing parameter and $m_{A'}$ is the mass of the DP, while:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi} = \frac{ig_D}{2} A^{\prime \mu} J^{\chi}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \chi^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \chi - m^2_{\chi} \chi^{\dagger} \chi, \qquad (2.3)$$

where $J^{\chi}_{\mu} = \left[(\partial_{\mu} \chi^{\dagger}) \chi - \chi^{\dagger} \partial_{\mu} \chi \right]$, g_D is the U(1)_D gauge coupling and m_{χ} is the mass of the dark matter particle. The region of the parameter space relevant for χ searches at beamdump facilities corresponds to $m_{A'} > 2m_{\chi}$ and $g_D \gg \epsilon e$ which implies $BR(A' \to \chi \chi^{\dagger}) \sim 1$.

In case χ is DM, precise measurements of the temperature anisotropies of the cosmic microwave background (CMB) radiation significantly constrain the parameter space. In particular, they rule out Dirac fermions with mass below 10 GeV as a thermal DM candidate and more in general every DM candidate that acquires its relic abundance via *s*-wave annihilation into SM particles [31, 32]. Hence, a complex scalar dark matter candidate χ is safe from such constraints as well as a Majorana or Pseudo-Dirac fermion. Tighter bounds come instead from the Planck measurement of the effective number of neutrino species $N_{\rm eff}$ [32] and rule out the minimal DP model considered here if the complex scalar is lighter than 9 MeV [33].

In order to show the region of parameter space relevant for thermal freeze-out, we will present the SHiP sensitivity in the (m_{χ}, Y) plane where Y is defined as:

$$Y \equiv \epsilon^2 \alpha_D \left(\frac{m_{\chi}}{m_{A'}}\right)^4, \qquad \alpha_D = \frac{g_D^2}{4\pi}.$$
 (2.4)

In the assumption $m_{A'} > 2m_{\chi}$, the parameter Y is linked to the DM annihilation cross section via the formula [34]:

$$\sigma(\chi\bar{\chi} \to f\bar{f})v \propto \frac{8\pi v^2 Y}{m_{\chi}^2},\tag{2.5}$$

where v is the relative velocity between the colliding DM particles.

3 The SHiP experiment

The Search for Hidden Particles (SHiP) experiment has been proposed as a general-purpose experiment [35] at the CERN Super-Proton-Synchrotron (SPS), addressed to explore the



Figure 1. Overview of the SHiP experimental layout.



Figure 2. Side (a) and front (b) views of the Scattering Neutrino Detector layout adopted for this study, with a detail of the magnet (red) and of the coil (green).

high-intensity frontier for NP searches, thus complementing the LHC research program [35]. It is particularly targeted at the observation of long-lived weakly interacting particles of mass below $10 \text{ GeV}/c^2$, foreseen in many Standard Model (SM) extensions. The use of a beam-dump facility [36] will result in a copious flux of charmed hadrons, from which not only hidden sector particles originate [37], but also tau neutrinos and their corresponding anti-particles. Therefore, being also a neutrino factory, SHiP will perform a wide neutrino physics program, as well as a first direct observation of the tau anti-neutrino, which represents the last particle to be directly observed to complete the SM framework. The SHiP Scattering Neutrino Detector (SND) is an apparatus designed for LDM particles searches, since it exploits an optimised combination of a dense target and high-granularity scattering detector, being it based on nuclear emulsion technology. In figure 1 a sketch of the experimental facility as currently implemented in the official simulation framework of the experiment FairShip [38] is shown. A brief overview of the simulated processes within FairShip and corresponding simulation software is reported in table 1.

A 400 GeV/c proton beam will be delivered onto a thick heavy-metal hybrid target, specifically designed to maximise the charm production yield and thus hidden sector particles and tau neutrino yields. Over five years of SPS operations, a total of 2×10^{20} protons on target (*p.o.t.*) collisions will be delivered, where each proton spill will have nominally 4×10^{13} *p.o.t.*. A hadron stopper follows the beam-dump target, with the goal to absorb the SM particles produced in the beam interaction. In addition, a series of sweeping magnets, referred to as Muon Shield [39], act as a deflecting device for the residual muons, further cleaning the flux of particles from leftover backgrounds to hidden sector particles and neutrino searches.

The SND, shown in figure 2 in the setup adopted for this study, is located downstream of the muon sweeper. Placed in a magnetised region of 1.2 Tesla in the horizontal direction and perpendicular to the beam axis [40], it consists of a $(90 \times 75 \times 321)$ cm³ high-granularity tracking device which exploits the Emulsion Cloud Chamber (ECC) technique developed by the OPERA experiment [41], which was successfully used for tau neutrino detection [42, 43]. Each elementary unit of the modular detector, called brick (figure 3), consists of alternating 56 lead plates of 1 mm thickness, passive material to increase the interaction probability, and 57 nuclear emulsion films of $0.3 \,\mathrm{mm}$ thickness, acting as tracking detector with micrometric accuracy. It is worth noting that the brick also functions as a high-granularity sampling calorimeter with more than five active layers for every radiation length X_0 over a total thickness of $10 X_0$ [44]. The ECC technology is also particularly efficient in the e/π^0 separation. The Compact Emulsion Spectrometer (CES), made up of a sequence of emulsion films and air gaps, is attached immediately downstream of the brick for electric charge measurement for particles not reaching the spectrometer. Despite the magnetic field, electron charge measurement is not possible due to early showering happening within the brick and the consequent information loss. The resulting weight of each ECC brick is approximately 8.3 kg, adding up to \sim 8 tons for the whole SND. The bricks are then assembled to shape 19 walls of ~ 50 units each, alternated with planes of electronic detector, called Target Tracker (TT), planes. For the time being, we consider the SciFi detector [45] as a feasible TT technological option. The TT additionally provide the time stamp of the event and help in linking the emulsion tracks to those reconstructed in the spectrometer and the muon system downstream of the SND. These features make the SND perfectly tailored for neutrino physics using all three flavours, as well as detection of light dark matter particles scattering off of electrons and nuclei of the SND.

An approximately 50 m long vacuum decay vessel is positioned downstream of the SND. The proposed facility is completed with a Hidden Sector Detector (HSD), equipped with calorimeters and muon detectors for the identification of long-lived Beyond Standard Model (BSM) particles.

4 Light dark matter production and detection

At a proton beam dump, DP can be abundantly produced in several channels:

1. *Light meson decay*: proton collisions on a heavy target result in a copious flux of outgoing mesons. Hence, DP may be produced in radiative decays of neutral mesons,

Simulation	Software		
SHiP detector: geometry and transport	GEANT4 [46]		
Proton on target collisions	PYTHIA v8.2 [47]		
Heavy flavour cascade production	PYTHIA v6.4 $[48]$		
Neutrino interactions	GENIE $[49]$		

Table 1. Details of the different steps of the simulation process within the FairShip framework and corresponding employed software.



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of the basic unit of the Scattering Neutrino Detector and the ECC brick: on the left, emulsion films interleaved with lead plates; on the right, the Compact Emulsion Spectrometer.

whereas a final state photon converts into a DP. The production cross-section is proportional to ϵ^2 and the relevant contributions come from the lightest mesons, because of decay modes with photons with relatively high branching ratio: π^0 , η , ω [15].

2. Proton bremsstrahlung: being a charged particle surrounded by its own electromagnetic field, the proton radiates low-frequency and/or quasi-collinear photons with high probability when it undergoes a scattering process. Vector states like DP mediators can then be generated via radiative process $pA \rightarrow pAA'$ [50] in proton interactions with the target nuclei.



Figure 4. Light dark matter interaction processes which can be probed by the SHiP experiment within the Scattering Neutrino Detector, i.e. elastic scattering off electrons $(\chi e^- \rightarrow \chi e^-)$ and off protons $(\chi p \rightarrow \chi p)$.

3. Direct perturbative QCD production: it corresponds to the dominant production mechanism for higher masses $(m_{A'} \gtrsim 1 \text{ GeV})$. At the lowest order in the strong interaction, DP are produced through the quark-antiquark annihilation process $q\bar{q} \rightarrow A'$ [15]. At higher orders, one can also have the associated production with a jet, according to the quark-gluon scattering process $qg \rightarrow qA'$, and with multiple jets.

In addition, secondary leptons produced in the dump can contribute to the flux of photons, and thereby of DPs, by different re-scattering processes occurring within the target. Such lepton-induced processes are usually sub-dominant at a proton beam dump. However, they are not completely negligible, as nicely shown in a the dedicated analysis [51], and might be relevant in scenarios in which the New Physics does not couple with coloured particles. We do not include them in this work. Therefore, our estimates should be considered conservative in this regard. The minimal DP model can be probed by the SHiP experiment through the direct detection of LDM elastic scattering process off of the electrons and nuclei of the SND (figure 4) For the majority of the events $\chi e^- \to \chi e^-$, the scattered electron is sufficiently energetic to generate an electromagnetic shower within the brick. Given that the ECC device acts as a high-granularity sampling calorimeter, it is thus possible to reconstruct the electron and measure its energy. Furthermore any activity in the proximity of the primary vertex can be spotted down to 100 MeV or below, thanks to the micrometrical position resolution of the nuclear emulsion device and the high sampling rate. These features translate into capability to accurately identify and tackle background events to LDM searches, as further described in section 5. As a consequence, LDM scattering events can be distinguished from a large neutrino-induced background.

An estimate of the order of magnitude of the expected yield of LDM interactions at SHiP can be determined as follows. The number of LDM-electron scattering events in the SND detector is given by the standard formula

$$\mathcal{N}_{\rm LDM} = \sigma(\chi \, e^- \to \chi \, e^-) \cdot \frac{\phi}{A_{\rm SND}} \cdot N_{e^-} \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where N_{e^-} is the numbers of scattering centres, i.e. the electrons in the detector, ϕ is the flux of incident LDM particles and A_{SND} represents the transverse area in (x, y) of the



Figure 5. Effective vertex for the decay process $X \to \gamma A'$, $X = \pi^0, \eta$.

SND. The elastic LDM-electron scattering cross section is roughly given by

$$\sigma(\chi e^- \to \chi e^-) \simeq \frac{4 \pi \alpha \alpha_D \epsilon^2}{m_{A'}^2} \,. \tag{4.2}$$

The flux ϕ mainly depends on the specific value of the DP mass which in turn determines the relative importance of the different production mechanisms. For example, for $m_{A'} \ll m_{\pi}$, LDM production in the beam dump is dominated by pion decays. In this case and under the assumption that all the primary proton impinging on the target will eventually interact in the beam dump, ϕ can be written as

$$\phi \simeq 2 \cdot N_{p.o.t} \cdot \lambda_{\pi^0} \cdot \epsilon^2 \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\text{geo}} \,. \tag{4.3}$$

In eq. (4.3), $N_{p.o.t.}$ is the total number of *p.o.t.* delivered in the five years of data-taking; λ_{π^0} denotes the multiplicity of π^0 s per *p.o.t.*; \mathcal{A}_{geo} embeds the geometrical acceptance of the SND to LDM interaction vertices, corresponding to an angular coverage $|(\theta_x, \theta_y)| \leq$ (12, 10) mrad from the proton beam dump. If considering an average value of $\lambda_{\pi^0} \sim$ 6 as provided by the simulation of prompt proton-nucleon collisions with Pythia¹ [47], a geometrical acceptance $A_{geo} \sim 30\%$ and if assuming a coupling close to the current experimental constraints $\epsilon \sim 5 \times 10^{-5}$ for a 10 MeV-DP and $\alpha_D \sim 0.1$, the expected number of LDM candidates foreseen in SHiP is $\sim 1.3 \times 10^4$.

We used MadDump [52] as the principal tool for the simulation of signal events. Its general philosophy and all the technical details are outlined in ref. [52]. We generate the event samples at the particle level and apply the selection criteria on the recoil electrons without taking into account other detector effects besides the geometrical acceptance. This is consistent with what has been done in the estimate of the background event rate. Since the target length is way larger than the proton interaction length in the material, we assume all of them to interact within the beam dump. In the following, we give further details for each production mechanism.

4.1 Meson decay

The relevant parameter space within the reach of the SHiP SND corresponds to $m_{A'} > 2m_{\chi}$ and $g_D \gg \epsilon e$. Indeed, in this scenario, the DP decays almost entirely into DM after travelling a very short distance, maximising the DM flux reaching the SHiP SND. The

¹We use Pythia(v8.230) and simulate events under the flag *SoftQCD:Inelastic*.

decay rate for light mesons decaying into dark photons is then dominated by the formation of an on-shell dark photon which decays promptly into dark matter, $BR(A' \to \chi \bar{\chi}) \simeq 1$. The production process is then well described by an effective Lagrangian with mesons as dynamical degrees of freedom leading to interaction vertices like $X\gamma A'$ ($X = \pi^0, \eta$, see figure 5) and $\omega \pi^0 A'$. The corresponding branching ratios scale with ϵ^2 and are given by:

$$\frac{\mathrm{BR}(\pi^0, \eta, \eta' \to \gamma A')}{\mathrm{BR}(\pi^0, \eta, \eta' \to \gamma \gamma)} \simeq 2 \,\epsilon^2 \left(1 - \frac{m_{A'}^2}{m_{\pi^0, \eta, \eta'}^2} \right)^3 \tag{4.4}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{BR}(\omega \to \pi^0 A')}{\mathrm{BR}(\omega \to \pi^0 \gamma)} \simeq \epsilon^2 \left(m_\omega^2 - m_\pi^2 \right)^{-3} \left[(m_{A'}^2 - (m_\pi + m_\omega)^2) (m_{A'}^2 - (m_\pi - m_\omega)^2) \right]^{3/2}.$$
(4.5)

An interested reader can find useful insights about the formulas above in [16, 53, 54]. The full simulation process is performed in three steps:

- i. production of the input meson fluxes originating from the incoming protons impinging and interacting within the target (beam dump);
- ii. generation of DM fluxes from the BSM meson decays in the relevant DM mass range;
- iii. generation of the corresponding $DM e^-$ scattering events within the detector acceptance and the selection criteria.

MadDump provides a unified framework to handle the last two steps, in which all the new physics content is involved. The main source of uncertainties comes from the meson fluxes. Indeed, the description of the proton-nucleus interactions is highly nontrivial and experimental data are available only for a limited collection of energies and nuclear targets. Phenomenological and data-driven parametrisations for the distributions of the light mesons have been proposed in the literature [55]. An alternative strategy is provided by Monte Carlo programs like Pythia [47]. Recently, Pythia(8) results have been compared with existing experimental data for the inclusive production of π^0 and η mesons in pp collisions [56]. A fairly good agreement has been found for mesons with high momentum and within middle-high rapidity range (where the Feynman variable 0.025 < $x_{\rm F}$ < 0.3), which represent the bulk of our events in acceptance.

Furthermore, secondary interactions of hadrons in the beam-dump target may affect the particle multiplicities, which in turn may increase the LDM yields and impact the sensitivity reach of the experiment. It is thus important to estimate the so-called cascade effects [57]. As the main input for the lightest mesons (π^0 , η) we use the fluxes generated with GEANT4(v10.3.2) within the FairShip software framework, which takes into account the secondary interactions adapting what has been used in ref. [58]. We also consider samples of mesons from primary proton-nucleon interactions generated with Pythia, as a reference to assess the impact of the cascade. For the ω , we rely on the Pythia samples only.

In tables 2, 3 and 4, we report a selection of results for π^0 and η , comparing the FairShip and Pythia samples. An important parameter in the FairShip simulation is the energy cutoff E_{cut} applied to the particles produced at each interaction vertex: particles with energy less than E_{cut} are removed from the list of those considered for new interactions within the

me	meson $N_{\pi^0}/p.o.t.$		$N_{\pi^0}/p.o.t.$
		FairShip	Pythia
7	τ^0	42	6
	η	5.5	0.8

Table 2. Average particle multiplicities per *p.o.t.* in 400 GeV proton collisions as estimated with FairShip, applying a cut-off $E_{\text{cut}} > 500 \text{ MeV}$ on secondary particles, and with Pythia, for primary interactions only.

target. We report the result for $E_{\rm cut} > 500$ MeV. Primary proton-proton interactions, as generated with Pythia, give an average particle multiplicity per *p.o.t.* of $N_{\pi^0}/p.o.t. = 6$ and $N_{\eta}/p.o.t. = 0.8$, for π^0 and η respectively. From the samples of mesons generated with FairShip, we get $N_{\pi^0}/p.o.t. = 42$ and $N_{\eta}/p.o.t. = 5.5$. Therefore, we observe that secondary interactions occurring within the beam-dump target greatly increase the particle multiplicities and, in turn, lead to a rise of the DM yield by the same amount. However, this does not translate directly into an enhancement of the signal yield in the SND. Indeed, in order to produce a detectable scattering event one should take into account

- the geometrical acceptance,
- the path travelled within the detector,
- the cross section for the scattering process.

We consider separately the effect due to the geometrical acceptance, defining an effective number of mesons per p.o.t. $N_X^{\text{eff}}/p.o.t.$ as the average number of mesons of species X per p.o.t. which produce a DM particle impinging on the detector surface. For different $m_{A'}$ values, we report in tables 3 and 4 our estimate of $N_{\pi^0}^{\text{eff}}/p.o.t.$ and $N_{\eta}^{\text{eff}}/p.o.t.$ as estimated with Pythia and FairShip. The comparison shows that the increase due to the cascade is around 50 - 70%. The explanation is that the secondary particles mainly populate the soft part of the spectrum, as it is clearly shown in the left panels of figure 6and figure 7 which have to be compared with the corresponding right panels describing the spectrum from prompt yields. Moreover, the cross section for the elastic LDM- e^{-1} scattering grows with the energy of the incoming dark-matter particle before saturating to a constant behaviour [59]. Hence, we expect that scattering events initiated by LDM particles produced in secondary interactions, being softer, will be less probable. This is clearly demonstrated by the last two columns in tables 3 and 4 in which we report the final signal yields N_s (corresponding to the benchmark point $\alpha_D = 0.1$ and $m_{A'} = 3m_{\chi}$ and $\epsilon = 10^{-4}$) due to FairShip and Pythia samples respectively. From the comparison, we see that the impact of the secondary interactions is reduced to that given by the geometrical acceptance only. In conclusion, our finding is that for π^0 , the cascade modestly affects $(\sim 15-40\%)$ the signal event yields within the detector volume, while for η it is negligible.

$m_{A'}$ (MeV)	$N_{\pi^0}^{\text{eff}}/p.o.t.$	$N_{\pi^0}^{\text{eff}}/p.o.t.$ N_s		Ns	
	(FairShip)	$({\tt Pythia})$	(FairShip)	(Pythia)	
10	1.2	0.80	$1.7\cdot 10^4$	$1.3\cdot 10^4$	
30	1.1	0.72	$8.6\cdot 10^3$	$7.3\cdot 10^3$	
60	0.70	0.46	$2.0\cdot 10^3$	$1.8\cdot 10^3$	
90	0.24	0.15	$3.1\cdot 10^2$	$2.5\cdot 10^2$	
120	0.013	0.0083	7.4	6.7	

Table 3. Comparison between π^0 samples generated using FairShip (with an energy cut of $E_{\rm cut} > 500 \,\text{MeV}$ in secondary vertices) and Pythia. $N_{\pi^0}^{\rm eff}/p.o.t.$ is the effective number of π^0 s per p.o.t. producing LDM particles within the geometrical acceptance. N_s is the signal yield for the benchmark point $\alpha_D = 0.1$ and $m_{A'} = 3m_{\chi}$ and $\epsilon = 10^{-4}$ corresponding to $2 \cdot 10^{20} p.o.t.$

$m_{A'} ({ m MeV})$	$N_{\eta}^{\text{eff}}/p.o.t.$	$N_{\eta}^{\text{eff}}/p.o.t.$	N_s	N_s	
	(FairShip)	(Pythia)	(FairShip)	(Pythia)	
10	0.15	0.10	$1.1 \cdot 10^3$	$8.1 \cdot 10^2$	
130	0.13	0.092	25	24	
250	0.099	0.059	1.6	1.5	
370	0.033	0.020	$1.16 \cdot 10^{-1}$	$1.15 \cdot 10^{-1}$	
520	0.00020	0.00012	$1.9\cdot 10^{-4}$	$1.8\cdot 10^{-4}$	

Table 4. Comparison between η samples generated using FairShip (with an energy cut of $E_{\rm cut} > 500 \,\text{MeV}$ in secondary vertices) and Pythia. $N_{\pi^0}^{\rm eff}/p.o.t.$ is the effective number of η s per p.o.t. which give raise to LDM particles within the geometrical acceptance. N_s is the LDM yield for the benchmark point $\alpha_D = 0.1$ and $m_{A'} = 3m_{\chi}$ and $\epsilon = 10^{-4}$ corresponding to $2 \cdot 10^{20} p.o.t.$



Figure 6. 2D contour plot of the momentum (p) and the production angle (θ) correlation for π^0 s produced in the collisions of 400 GeV protons hitting the SHiP beam-dump target. Left: simulation with FairShip including π^0 production in the interactions of secondary hadrons with the target nuclei. Right: simulation of the prompt proton-nucleon π^0 production with Pythia.



Figure 7. 2D contour plot of the momentum (p) and the production angle (θ) correlation for the η s produced in the collisions of 400 GeV protons hitting the SHiP beam-dump target. Left: simulation with FairShip including η production in the interactions of secondary hadrons with the target nuclei. Right: simulation of the prompt proton-nucleon η production with Pythia.

4.2 Proton Bremsstrahlung

In the mass range 500 MeV $\leq m_{A'} \leq 1$ GeV, the production of A' is dominated by the proton bremsstrahlung mechanism. The photon emission cross section is indeed enlarged in the collinear direction so that a sizeable fraction of A' is produced within the geometrical acceptance for an on-axis detector as the SND (~ 20%). In this limit, the process can be described by a generalisation of the Fermi-Williams-Weizsäcker method [60–62], based on the assumption that the p - N scattering is dominated by the exchange in the 1⁻⁻ channel. We extend MadDump include the bremsstrahlung from the primary protons. Following refs. [50, 63], we parametrise the four-momentum vector of the emitted A' as $p_{A'} = (E_{A'}, p_{\rm T} \cos(\phi), p_{\rm T} \sin(\phi), zP)$, with $E_{A'} = zP + (p_{\rm T}^2 + m_{A'}^2)/(2zP)$, where P is the momentum of the incident proton, z is the fraction of the proton momentum carried by the outgoing A', $p_{\rm T}$ is the momentum perpendicular to the beam momentum and ϕ is the azimuthal angle. We generate unweighted A' events according to the differential production rate

$$\frac{d^2 N_{A'}}{dz dp_{\rm T}^2} = \frac{\sigma_{pA}(s')}{\sigma_{pA}(s)} F_{1,p}^2(m_{A'}^2) w_{ba}(z, p_{\rm T}^2), \tag{4.6}$$

where $s' = 2m_p(E_p - E_{A'})$, $s = 2m_pE_p$ and the photon splitting function is

$$\begin{split} w_{ba}(z,p_{\rm T}^2) = & \frac{\epsilon^2 \alpha}{2\pi H} \Bigg[\frac{1+(1-z)^2}{z} - 2z(1-z) \left(\frac{2m_p^2 + m_{A'}^2}{H} - z^2 \frac{2m_p^4}{H^2} \right) \\ &+ 2z(1-z)(1+(1-z)^2) \frac{m_p^2 m_{A'}^2}{H^2} + 2z(1-z)^2 \frac{m_{A'}^4}{H^2} \Bigg], \end{split}$$

with $H = p_{\rm T}^2 + (1-z)m_{A'}^2 + z^2 m_p^2$. In the above formula, $F_{1,p}$ is the time-like proton formfactor, as provided by the parameterisation in ref. [64]. It effectively incorporates off-shell mixing with vector mesons such as ρ and ω , corresponding to a resonance effect around $m_{A'} \sim 770 \,\text{MeV}$ [65]. In ref. [63], the authors compare the description of the peak region by adopting the time-like proton form factors and by adding by hand the vector mixing within an on-shell computation, finding small deviations in the peak region. Assessing the size of this uncertainty is beyond the scope of this work.

The next steps of the simulation, namely the decay $A' \to \chi \bar{\chi}$ and the $\chi - e^-$ scattering in the SND, are handled by standard MadDump functions. The whole process has been integrated into the new MadDump mode bremsstrahlung-interaction.

The normalisation of the flux of the original A' is given by the integral of the differential production rate eq. (4.6) in the validity range of the equivalent photon approximation, given by the kinematical conditions

$$E_p, E_{A'}, E_p - E_{A'} \gg m_p, m_{A'}, |p_{\rm T}|.$$
 (4.7)

Following refs. [50, 63, 66], we adopt $z \in [0.1, 0.9]$. For a relatively high energy experiment such as SHiP, the minimum DP energy E_P corresponds then to ~ 40 GeV and we can set its maximum transverse momentum p_T to 4 GeV, i.e. an order of magnitude less. We expect electron bremsstrahlung to be sub-dominant as discussed for example in [66, 67]. As for the cascade effects, extra dark photons may arise from the bremsstrahlung of secondary charged hadrons. Similarly to what happens in the case of mesons, the picture is complicated by the impact of the geometrical acceptance and the convolution with the scattering cross section. For the case the proton undergoes a chain of elastic proton-nucleon collisions, so that it retains all of its initial energy, we can make a rough estimate by means of the following simplified calculation. Let $p_{\rm el}$ be the probability that the incoming proton undergoes an elastic scattering interaction with a nucleon in the target and $p_{\rm brem}$ the probability of a dark photon produced in the proton bremsstrahlung. Under the assumption that $p_{\rm brem}$ does not depend much on the number of previous elastic collisions, the probability that a dark photon is produced in this chain is

$$p = p_{\rm brem} \left(1 + p_{\rm el} \times p_{\rm el} + p_{\rm el} \times p_{\rm el} \times p_{\rm el} + \dots \right) = p_{\rm brem} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p_{\rm el}^n = p_{\rm brem} \frac{1}{1 - p_{\rm el}}.$$
 (4.8)

At the energy of SHiP, $p_{\rm el} \simeq 0.25$ so that we estimate a mild increment of ~ 30%. In the following, we keep the conservative estimate based only upon the bremsstrahlung of the primary protons.

4.3 QCD prompt production

QCD parton processes become relevant for $m_{A'} \gtrsim 1 \text{ GeV}$, at the edge where perturbation theory starts to become reliable. Indeed, at scales $\leq 1 \text{ GeV}$ the strong coupling α_s is O(1) and the description of the hadrons in terms of constituent partons is spoiled by the confinement. In the attempt of estimating the relative importance of this production mechanism, we have tried to push the perturbative computation down to $m_{A'} \sim 300 \text{ MeV}$. The main tree-level diagrams correspond to the Drell-Yan-like production and the associated production with QCD radiation, figure 8. The latter allows for smaller $m_{A'}$ values since the characteristic scale of the process, given by the transverse momentum of the emitted parton, can be kept to be higher than the $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ scale. A minimum cut on the



Figure 8. Main tree-level partonic QCD contributions: Drell-Yan-like production (left panel), associated production with the emission of extra QCD radiation (right panel).

 $p_{\rm T}$ of the QCD radiation is physically required to tame infrared singularities. The cross section diverges logarithmically up to scales of order $O(\Lambda_{\rm QCD})$, when perturbation theory eventually breaks down. The transverse momentum cut-off is a severe requirement for an on-axis set-up as SHiP, due to its small angular acceptance. We find that even for relatively small values of the cut-off, $p_{\rm T} \sim 800$ MeV, the production rate is not sufficient to produce a significant yield of LDM within the geometrical acceptance. Therefore, we focus only on Drell-Yan-like production. We rely on MadGraph5(v.2.66) [68], which is integrated in MadDump as it is based on the former package, for the generation of the events, and we use the NNPDF2.3LO [69, 70] set as our choice of the proton parton distribution function (PDF). In the normalisation of the number of produced LDM particles, we effectively take into account nuclear effects in the following way

$$N_{\rm LDM} = 2 \times \frac{\sigma_{pA \to \chi\bar{\chi}}}{\sigma_{pA \to \rm all}} \times N_{p.o.t.} = 2 \times \frac{A \,\sigma_{pp \to \chi\bar{\chi}}}{A^{0.71} \sigma_{pp \to \rm all}} \times N_{p.o.t.} = 2 \times A^{0.29} \times \frac{\sigma_{pp \to \chi\bar{\chi}}}{\sigma_{pp \to \rm all}} \times N_{p.o.t.} ,$$

where $A = A_{\text{Molybdenum}} = 96$; the nuclear rescaling as $A^{0.71}$ is taken from ref. [71] and $\sigma_{pp\to\text{all}} = 40 \text{ mb}$ [72].

In this case, the characteristic scale of the process coincides with $m_{A'}$. As mentioned before, we cannot use scales $\leq 1 \text{ GeV}$, where both the strong coupling and PDF are illdefined from the perturbative point of view. To push our projection into the sub-GeV range, we adopt the following prescription: we set both the re-normalisation scale μ_R (at which the strong coupling constant is evaluated) and the factorisation scale μ_F (at which the PDF is evaluated) to a fixed value chosen to be $\mu_R = \mu_F = 1.5 \text{ GeV}$, the lowest scale variation point associated to open charm production.

5 Background estimate

Neutrinos emerging from the beam-dump target and interacting in the SND are the relevant background source to the detection of LDM elastic scattering, whenever the topology at the primary vertex consists of a single outgoing charged track, an electron. The expected background yield for five years of data-taking has been estimated by means of the GENIE [49] Monte Carlo software, supplied with the spectrum of neutrinos produced at the beam dump as simulated with Pythia v6.4.28 within FairShip and including secondary production, for the generation of the following neutrino interactions in the whole kinematic phase space: • Elastic scattering (EL) of $\nu_e(\bar{\nu}_e)$, $\nu_\mu(\bar{\nu}_\mu)$ off the electrons of the SND, which is a source of irreducible background as it shares the same topology of LDM elastic interactions:

$$\nu_{\ell} + e^- \to \nu_{\ell} + e^-$$

• Resonant scattering (RES) of $\nu_e(\bar{\nu}_e)$ off nucleons A(n, p):

$$\nu_e(\bar{\nu}_e) + A \to e^-(e^+) + \Delta^{+/++},$$

 $\nu_e(\bar{\nu}_e) + A \to e^-(e^+) + (N^* \to \text{inv}).$

• Deep Inelastic scattering (DIS) of $\nu_e(\bar{\nu}_e)$ off nucleons A, representing background when only the electron track at the primary vertex is reconstructed because of unidentified hadrons:

$$\nu_e(\bar{\nu}_e) + A \rightarrow e^-(e^+) + X$$

• Quasi-elastic scattering (QE) of $\nu_e(\bar{\nu}_e)$, with the primary proton undetected because it is below the energy threshold:

$$u_e + n \to e^- + p,$$

 $\bar{\nu}_e + p \to e^+ + n.$

Charged current interactions of ν_{ℓ} ($\bar{\nu}_{\ell}$) with $\ell = \mu$, τ do not represent a concern because they are easily discernible from LDM events by reconstructing the charged lepton produced in the final state. Electron decay modes of the τ lepton are a negligible background source, since an early decay of the parent track (~ 1% occurrence) leading to an undetected τ would occur with less than a per-mill probability. In addition, we do not consider ν_{τ} ($\bar{\nu}_{\tau}$) elastic scattering processes as background, due to the suppression resulting from the combination of smaller flux $\phi_{\nu_{\tau}}$ (~ 1 order of magnitude smaller than $\phi_{\nu_{e}}$ and ~ 2 orders of magnitude smaller than $\phi_{\nu_{\mu}}$) and cross section.

The whole ν spectrum is made to interact within the SND and the surrounding materials. Moreover, for this study we assume the detection efficiency to be unitary [73].

The simulated sample of neutrinos undergoes a two-steps selection procedure, in order to be tagged as residual background.

First, only interactions occurring within geometrical acceptance and associated with a single charged final state track, an electron, are selected: ν vertices are further considered in the analysis only if located inside the SND volume, whereas all the out-coming charged tracks are inspected in order to assess their visibility in the nuclear emulsion medium. The visibility threshold depends crucially on the exploited tracking device technology; for this study we assume 170 MeV/c for the protons, 100 MeV/c for the other charged particles including the electrons. These are derived as benchmark values from the OPERA experiment, where charged-particle reconstruction is possible only if two consecutive straight track segments, before and after a lead plate, are found to be in agreement [74]. A further handle considered here for signal against background discrimination is the presence of neutral particles, e.g. photons or π^0 s, nearby the interaction vertex, since it is not foreseen in any LDM elastic scattering event.

The second step of the event identification procedure consists of a kinematic selection in the energy E_e and polar angle with respect to the incoming neutrino/LDM direction θ_e of the scattered electron. For the elastic case, these quantities are constrained by the kinematic relation $E_e \theta_e^2 \leq 2 m_e$, valid in the regime $E_{in} \gg m_e, m_{\chi}$, where E_{in} is the energy of the incident neutrino/LDM particle. In order to choose the energy and angle ranges for the selection, an optimisation procedure is performed, aiming at maximising the following significance:

$$\Sigma = \frac{S}{\sqrt{\sigma_{\text{stat}}^2 + \sigma_{\text{sys}}^2}} = \frac{S}{\sqrt{B + \sum_{\substack{i \in [\text{EL, QE, RES, DIS]}\\\ell \in [\nu_e, \nu_\mu, \bar{\nu}_e, \bar{\nu}_\mu]}}} , \qquad (5.1)$$

where S denotes the signal yield, while $B_{i\ell}$ are the individual contributions to the background yield B per interaction category and neutrino flavour, each of them weighted by a factor $\kappa_{i\ell}$ accounting for the systematic uncertainty. We have focused on the relevant systematics, arising from the uncertainty on the neutrino cross sections (assumed flavour-independent, κ_i) and on the incoming neutrino flux produced at the beam dump (interaction-independent, $\tilde{\kappa}_{\ell}$), so that we have assumed $\kappa_{i\ell} = \sqrt{\kappa_i^2 + \tilde{\kappa}_{\ell}^2}$. As for the former, we assume the following: 5% for DIS [75], 18% for RES [76], 8% for QE [77], while we neglect the uncertainty on the EL cross section that is well known within the SM [78]. As for the uncertainty on the incoming neutrino flux, this will be well constrained by an independent measurement of the abundant CC-DIS interactions occurring within the SHiP detector (expected ~ 10^6 for $\nu_{e,\mu}$). Since the corresponding cross section is lepton-universal and known within ~ 5% accuracy down to E_{ν} of 2.5 GeV [75], we assume it to be the driving systematic uncertainty on the neutrino flux. While SHiP is capable of disentangling ν_{μ} from $\bar{\nu}_{\mu}$ interactions by measuring the charge of the primary muon, thus providing a different estimate for ν_{μ} and $\bar{\nu}_{\mu}$ fluxes, with regard to electron species it will measure a combination of the lepton and anti-lepton initiated events. As the relative abundance of ν_e and $\bar{\nu}_e$ produced at the beam dump can be assessed, the individual fluxes can be estimated accordingly. For neutrino energies below 2.5 GeV we double the uncertainty on the flux assuming them to be at 10%.

Since the signal yield S depends on the mass hypothesis placed on the LDM candidate and thus on the DP, we adopt the most-general assumption of maximising the experimental sensitivity with respect to the broadest possible range of masses. Therefore, S is given as the average of the signal yields for three DP mass hypotheses: 50 MeV, 250 MeV and 500 MeV.

The selection optimisation strategy is based on a grid-search method and proceeds as follows:

- an energy window $[E_{\min}, E_{\max}]$ is identified, according to the signal events distributions;
- in the given energy range, the significance Σ values are determined in uniform angular intervals of 5 mrad spread;
- the selection ranges, corresponding to the maximum Σ , are chosen for the analysis.

	ν_e	$\bar{\nu}_e$	$ u_{\mu}$	$\bar{ u}_{\mu}$	all
Elastic scattering on e^-	68	41	60	38	207
Quasi-elastic scattering	9	9			18
Resonant scattering		5			5
Deep inelastic scattering					
Total	77	55	60	38	230

Table 5. Expected neutrino background yield to light dark matter elastic scattering search in the SHiP experiment, corresponding to 2×10^{20} delivered *p.o.t.* The current estimate is the result of a combined geometrical, topological and kinematical selection, aimed at identifying only interactions occurring within the Scattering Neutrino Detector with one visible track in the final state being an electron. Tracks under a defined visibility threshold are discarded (p < 100 MeV/c for charged, p < 170 MeV/c for protons). A kinematic cut in $E_e \in [1, 5]$ GeV and $\theta_e \in [10, 30]$ mrad of the scattered electron is chosen as result of the signal significance optimisation procedure and determines the final number of background events. We refer to the section 5 for further details on the analysis and the associated uncertainties.

As shown in figure 9, signal events are mostly concentrated at energies below 10 GeV. Two energy windows have thus been considered: [1, 5] GeV and [1, 10] GeV, where the lower cut is placed as a minimum requirement for the recoil electron to produce a detectable electromagnetic shower within the ECC brick. The motivation to consider an additional tighter energy range resides in the opportunity to further suppress the high energetic components of the neutrino background, as illustrated in figure 10 which shows the relevant EL and QE contributions. DIS and RES processes are not shown since they exhibit signatures with higher multiplicities of charged tracks at the primary vertex.

The results of the optimisation are reported in figure 11, showing indeed a preference for the tighter energy window $E_e \in [1, 5]$ GeV and an angular range $\theta_e \in [10, 30]$ mrad.

The corresponding background yield estimate is reported in table 5.

Neutrino elastic scattering processes, involving either electronic and muonic species, represent the dominant background source and are to some degree irreducible, since they share the same topology as the signal.

With regard to quasi-elastic ν_e and $\bar{\nu}_e$ interactions, a small but non-negligible contribution is observed. The process $\nu_e n \to e^- p$ mimics the signal when the proton at the primary vertex is not identified, because of the 170 MeV/c threshold. Improvements in the proton identification efficiency with dedicated techniques, including Machine Learning clustering algorithms, will be the subject of future studies. When considering anti-neutrinos, events as $\bar{\nu}_e p \to e^+ n$ are topologically irreducible since we assume for the present study the neutron to be undetectable within the SND. This effect compensates the larger (by a factor of ~ 3) neutrino flux, thus making the two contributions comparable.

In the case of resonant neutrino scattering, the outgoing electron is often accompanied by a further charged track, which helps discriminating between background and signal.





(c) $m_{A'} = 500 \,\text{MeV}$, production from proton bremsstrahlung.

Figure 9. 2D-contour plot in the energy-polar angle plane of the recoil electron in $LDM-e^{-1}$ scattering for three different mass DP candidates: (a) 50 MeV, (b) 250 MeV, (c) 500 MeV. The colour range is expressed in arbitrary units. A clear correlation is observed between the mass of the DP candidate and the electron energy-angle spectrum: the higher is the mass the smaller the recoil angle and the higher the associated energy. In the mass range we are interested in, most of the signal lies in the energy region below 10 GeV.

Nevertheless, some topologically irreducible interactions are present as well:

$$\bar{\nu}_e p \to e^+ N^*$$
, $N^* \to \Lambda^0 K^0_{L/S}$,

where the $K_{L/S}^0$ is considered undetectable within the SND for this study. Future improvements lie in the employment of combined information of ECC and TT, coming from the linking of the emulsion tracks with those reconstructed in the electronic tracking system. Moreover, some final states with the pattern $e^+(n) \gamma$ contribute, when the emitted photon is too soft to be identified via the reconstruction of the electron-positron pairs from its conversion.

The contribution from neutrino deep inelastic scattering processes is, on the contrary, negligible, as a consequence of the high rejection power observed on these event categories, which exhibit a topology with a high multiplicity of charged tracks.



(a) Sum of the EL $\nu_{\ell}(\bar{\nu}_{\ell})$ scattering contributions (b) Sum of the QE $\nu_{e}(\bar{\nu}_{e})$ scattering contributions. $(\ell = e, \mu)$.

Figure 10. 2D plot of the scattered electron energy E_{e^-} Vs. angle θ_{e^-} for the relevant background sources from neutrino and anti-neutrino species: (a) EL scattering from $\nu_{\ell}(\bar{\nu}_{\ell})$ being $\ell = e, \mu$; (b) QE scattering from $\nu_{e}(\bar{\nu}_{e})$.



Figure 11. Grid-search optimisation of the significance Σ as a function of the angular cut for a fixed energy window. The left axis represents the lower cut value for θ_e whereas the upper axis is the higher one. The plots in the two panels share the same normalisation. The best selection

corresponds to the tighter energy window (a) and the angular range [10, 30] mrad.

In the eventuality of an observed excess in the number of events, SHiP may collect data in a bunched beam mode, exploiting the time of flight measurement to separate massive particles like LDM from neutrinos.

6 Sensitivity

Once the significance of eq. (5.1) is maximised, the optimal energy and angle ranges are employed to determine the yields of signal and background, following a cut-and-count procedure, per each fixed value of the mediator mass $m_{A'}$. The 90% confidence level (C.L.) exclusion limits on the ϵ coupling at fixed mass $m_{A'}$ are then retrieved by adopting a single-tail Poissonian statistics. Statistical and systematic uncertainties are combined as reported after eq. (5.1).

In figure 12, we report our projection for the SHiP SND exclusion limit at 90% C.L. in the $m_{\chi} - Y$ plane of the dark-photon model. As stated above, we consider the benchmark scenario $\alpha_D = 0.1$ and $m_{\chi} = m_{A'}/3$. In figure 13, we separate the contributions given by the different production mechanisms. In the low mass range $m_{\chi} \leq 150$ MeV, the main contribution comes from the decay of the lightest mesons. π decays dominate the A' yield up to masses close to the $m_{\pi} \to \gamma A'$ kinematic threshold. When approaching this threshold, the decay rate rapidly closes due to the steep suppression given by the phase space factor and with further increasing m_{χ} mass the $\eta \to \gamma A'$ starts to dominate. The contribution of the ω is subdominant in the whole available mass range, which justifies a posteriori the fact that we do not include in our analysis A' production from decays of heavier meson like the η' .

We find that the contribution due to pQCD is very small in the mass region explored. By varying the factorisation scale in the range 800 MeV $< \mu_F < 3$ GeV, we estimate the uncertainty associated with missing higher orders to be about 15% on the signal yield within acceptance. We believe that this is an underestimation of the uncertainty as at next-to-leading order the process starts to receive radiative corrections proportional to the strong coupling constant at a scale close to $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$, and new production channels open. While we do not expect that this will lead to a sizeable impact on the sensitivity, neglecting it leads anyway to a conservative estimate of the signal; hence, we have not considered the contribution of pQCD in our final result.

In the mass range $1 \text{ MeV} < m_{\chi} < 300 \text{ MeV}$, the SHiP upper limit fairly improves the current strongest experimental limits (BaBar [13], Na64 [27]), even by more than an order of magnitude in the central region (5 MeV $< m_{\chi} < 100 \text{ MeV}$). In this range and for the benchmark point under investigation, SHiP will cover the still unexplored parameter space corresponding to the solution of the relic density given by a scalar LDM. In the range $3 \text{ MeV} < m_{\chi} < 300 \text{ MeV}$, SHiP will reach the thermal target for a Majorana candidate. Furthermore, it will exceed the thermal target for a Pseudo-Dirac candidate for masses around $10 \text{ MeV} < m_{\chi} < 40 \text{ MeV}$.

We notice that for $m_{\chi} \lesssim 5$ MeV the SHiP line saturates. In this region, the dark matter mass starts to become negligible and the selection requirements affect similarly the signal and the background. The rise in the signal production rate due to a lower mass is then balanced by a smaller fraction of events passing the kinematics selection, leading to the observed flat sensitivity in the small mass range. The distinctive peak at $m_{\chi} \simeq 257$ GeV corresponds to the $\rho-\omega$ resonant region, which is effectively taken into account by the timelike proton form factors used in the modelling of the proton bremsstrahlung mechanism.

In figure 14, the comparison between the SHiP sensitivity reach and that of other concurrent experiments clearly shows strengths and the complementarity offered by the proposed experimental scenario. Indeed the SHiP experiment will place constraints in unexplored regions of parameters space by exploiting a high intensity proton beam dump at 400 GeV and a micrometrical resolution tracking capability with the ECC. Thus, it offers a diverse approach to this NP search with respect to other experimental scenarios including direct searches and electron beam-line technologies.



Figure 12. SHiP SND exclusion limit at 90% CL relative to a A' decaying into $\chi \bar{\chi}$ pairs for the benchmark point $\alpha_D = 0.1$ and $m_{A'} = 3 m_{\chi}$. The current strongest experimental limits are also shown (BaBar [13], NA64 [27]), together with the three thermal relic lines corresponding to the scalar and the Majorana [3], and the Pseudo-Dirac DM [79] hypothesis.

7 Conclusions

Light dark matter particles χ with masses in the sub-GeV region represent an appealing scenario for the explanation of the observed thermal relic density in the Universe. In this work, we have studied the potential offered by the SHiP SND to reveal LDM which couple to SM particles via a new gauge force mediated by a vector boson, A'. We have assumed the simplest DP model, with coupling g_D to χ and A' kinetically mixed with the SM photon with mixing parameter ϵ . We have focused on the relevant scenario for the SHiP SND: $m_{A'} > 2m_{\chi}$ and $g_D \gg \epsilon e$. Our main result is that for DM masses in [1, 300] MeV the SHiP experiment will reach an unexplored region of the parameter space. For the benchmark point considered, the sensitivity of the SHiP SND is even below the thermal relic line corresponding to a Majorana DM candidate in the mass window [3, 300] MeV and it will reach the target for a Pseudo-Dirac candidate within [15, 30] MeV. Our analysis is based on a robust simulation framework for both the signal and the background which includes the relevant physical processes propagated within the detector. In particular, interactions of



Figure 13. SHiP SND exclusion limit at 90% CL relative to a A' decaying into $\chi \bar{\chi}$ pairs for the benchmark point $\alpha_D = 0.1$ and $m_{A'} = 3m_{\chi}$. The contributions from the different production mechanisms are reported separately.

secondary particles in the beam-dump target have been taken into account in the neutrino background modelling, assuming unitary detection efficiency. As for the signal, we have consistently adopted 100% detection efficiency within the selection requirements and we have studied the impact of the cascade effect on meson multiplicities and the resulting dark matter production yield. We have observed that the impact of the cascade is quite modest and affects mainly the low masses.

In this work, we have focused on the elastic $\chi e \to \chi e$ signature detectable within the SHiP Scattering and Neutrino Detector. Other signatures, as the elastic scattering with nuclei, may lead to an improvement of the sensitivity. We leave their study to forthcoming works. In our case, the main background sources arise from elastic $\nu_{\ell}/\bar{\nu}_{\ell}$ -electron and quasi-elastic $\nu_e/\bar{\nu}_e$ scattering. We have considered the region $E_e \in [1, 5]$ GeV and $\theta_e \in [10, 30]$ mrad, where e is the recoil electron. We have found that about 230 neutrino events survive the selection requirements, for $2 \times 10^{20} p.o.t.$ corresponding to 5 years of data-taking.

We conclude by mentioning that, should an excess of events be observed, a time of flight measurement of particles scattering within the SND might represent a smoking gun to discriminate LDM from neutrino events, thus leading to an inarguable discovery.



Figure 14. Comparison of existing and projected limits among the SHiP and other experiments as taken from ref. [80] for scalar (top panel) and Pseudo-Dirac dark matter (bottom panel).

Acknowledgments

The support from the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF) under Contract No. BSSGI0_155990, 200020_188464 and IZSAZ2_173357 is acknowledged.

The SHiP Collaboration wishes to thank the Castaldo company (Naples, Italy) for their contribution to the development studies of the decay vessel. The support from the National Research Foundation of Korea with grant numbers of 2018R1A2B2007757, 2018R1D1A3B07050649, 2018R1D1A1B07050701, 2017R1D1A1B03036042, 2017R1A6A3A01075752, 2016R1A2B4012302, and The support from the FCT — Fundação 2016R1A6A3A11930680 is acknowledged. para a Ciência e a Tecnologia of Portugal with grant number CERN/FIS-PAR/0030/2017 is acknowledged. The support from the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (RFBR), grant 17-02-00607, and the support from the TAEK of Turkey are acknowledged.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- M. Schumann, Direct detection of WIMP dark matter: concepts and status, J. Phys. G 46 (2019) 103003 [arXiv:1903.03026] [INSPIRE].
- [2] P.J. Fox, TASI lectures on WIMPs and supersymmetry, PoS(TASI2018)005 (2019) [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Battaglieri et al., U.S. cosmic visions: new ideas in dark matter 2017. Community report, in U.S. cosmic visions: new ideas in dark matter, (2017) [arXiv:1707.04591] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Ibe, W. Nakano, Y. Shoji and K. Suzuki, Migdal effect in dark matter direct detection experiments, JHEP 03 (2018) 194 [arXiv:1707.07258] [INSPIRE].
- [5] DARKSIDE collaboration, Low-mass dark matter search with the DarkSide-50 experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 081307 [arXiv:1802.06994] [INSPIRE].
- [6] G. Angloher et al., Results from 730 kg days of the CRESST-II dark matter search, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 1971 [arXiv:1109.0702] [INSPIRE].
- [7] R. Essig, A. Manalaysay, J. Mardon, P. Sorensen and T. Volansky, First direct detection limits on sub-GeV dark matter from XENON10, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 021301
 [arXiv:1206.2644] [INSPIRE].
- [8] XENON collaboration, Dark matter search results from a one ton-year exposure of XENON1T, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 111302 [arXiv:1805.12562] [INSPIRE].
- [9] DARWIN collaboration, DARWIN: direct dark matter search with the ultimate detector, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1468 (2020) 012068 [INSPIRE].
- [10] PANDAX-II collaboration, Dark matter results from 54-ton-day exposure of PandaX-II experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 181302 [arXiv:1708.06917] [INSPIRE].
- [11] SENSEI collaboration, SENSEI: first direct-detection constraints on sub-GeV dark matter from a surface run, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 061803 [arXiv:1804.00088] [INSPIRE].

- [12] L. Roszkowski, E.M. Sessolo and S. Trojanowski, WIMP dark matter candidates and searches

 current status and future prospects, Rept. Prog. Phys. 81 (2018) 066201
 [arXiv:1707.06277] [INSPIRE].
- [13] BABAR collaboration, Search for invisible decays of a dark photon produced in e⁺e⁻ collisions at BaBar, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 131804 [arXiv:1702.03327] [INSPIRE].
- [14] BELLE-II collaboration, The Belle II physics book, PTEP 2019 (2019) 123C01 [Erratum ibid. 2020 (2020) 029201] [arXiv:1808.10567] [INSPIRE].
- [15] B. Batell, M. Pospelov and A. Ritz, Exploring portals to a hidden sector through fixed targets, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 095024 [arXiv:0906.5614] [INSPIRE].
- [16] P. deNiverville, M. Pospelov and A. Ritz, Observing a light dark matter beam with neutrino experiments, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 075020 [arXiv:1107.4580] [INSPIRE].
- [17] P. deNiverville, D. McKeen and A. Ritz, Signatures of sub-GeV dark matter beams at neutrino experiments, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 035022 [arXiv:1205.3499] [INSPIRE].
- [18] MINIBOONE collaboration, Low mass WIMP searches with a neutrino experiment: a proposal for further MiniBooNE running, arXiv:1211.2258 [INSPIRE].
- [19] B. Batell, P. deNiverville, D. McKeen, M. Pospelov and A. Ritz, Leptophobic dark matter at neutrino factories, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 115014 [arXiv:1405.7049] [INSPIRE].
- [20] D.E. Soper, M. Spannowsky, C.J. Wallace and T.M.P. Tait, Scattering of dark particles with light mediators, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 115005 [arXiv:1407.2623] [INSPIRE].
- [21] B.A. Dobrescu and C. Frugiuele, GeV-scale dark matter: production at the main injector, JHEP 02 (2015) 019 [arXiv:1410.1566] [INSPIRE].
- [22] P. Coloma, B.A. Dobrescu, C. Frugiuele and R. Harnik, *Dark matter beams at LBNF*, *JHEP* 04 (2016) 047 [arXiv:1512.03852] [INSPIRE].
- [23] C. Frugiuele, Probing sub-GeV dark sectors via high energy proton beams at LBNF/DUNE and MiniBooNE, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 015029 [arXiv:1701.05464] [INSPIRE].
- [24] P. deNiverville and C. Frugiuele, Hunting sub-GeV dark matter with the NOνA near detector, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 051701 [arXiv:1807.06501] [INSPIRE].
- [25] G. Magill, R. Plestid, M. Pospelov and Y.-D. Tsai, Millicharged particles in neutrino experiments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 071801 [arXiv:1806.03310] [INSPIRE].
- [26] MINIBOONE DM collaboration, Dark matter search in nucleon, pion, and electron channels from a proton beam dump with MiniBooNE, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 112004
 [arXiv:1807.06137] [INSPIRE].
- [27] D. Banerjee et al., Dark matter search in missing energy events with NA64, Phys. Rev. Lett.
 123 (2019) 121801 [arXiv:1906.00176] [INSPIRE].
- [28] LDMX collaboration, Light Dark Matter eXperiment (LDMX), arXiv:1808.05219 [INSPIRE].
- [29] B. Batell, A. Freitas, A. Ismail and D. Mckeen, Flavor-specific scalar mediators, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 055026 [arXiv:1712.10022] [INSPIRE].
- [30] B. Holdom, Two U(1)'s and ϵ charge shifts, Phys. Lett. B 166 (1986) 196 [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Lin, H.-B. Yu and K.M. Zurek, On symmetric and asymmetric light dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 063503 [arXiv:1111.0293] [INSPIRE].

- [32] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A13 [arXiv:1502.01589] [INSPIRE].
- [33] P.F. Depta, M. Hufnagel, K. Schmidt-Hoberg and S. Wild, BBN constraints on the annihilation of MeV-scale dark matter, JCAP 04 (2019) 029 [arXiv:1901.06944] [INSPIRE].
- [34] E. Izaguirre, G. Krnjaic, P. Schuster and N. Toro, Analyzing the discovery potential for light dark matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 251301 [arXiv:1505.00011] [INSPIRE].
- [35] SHIP collaboration, A facility to Search for Hidden Particles (SHiP) at the CERN SPS, arXiv:1504.04956 [INSPIRE].
- [36] SHIP collaboration, The experimental facility for the Search for Hidden Particles at the CERN SPS, 2019 JINST 14 P03025 [arXiv:1810.06880] [INSPIRE].
- [37] SHIP collaboration, Sensitivity of the SHiP experiment to heavy neutral leptons, JHEP 04 (2019) 077 [arXiv:1811.00930] [INSPIRE].
- [38] SHIP collaboration, Fairship, https://github.com/ShipSoft/FairShip.
- [39] SHIP collaboration, The active muon shield in the SHiP experiment, 2017 JINST 12 P05011 [arXiv:1703.03612] [INSPIRE].
- [40] SHIP collaboration, The magnet of the scattering and neutrino detector for the SHiP experiment at CERN, 2020 JINST 15 P01027 [arXiv:1910.02952] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R. Acquafredda et al., The OPERA experiment in the CERN to Gran Sasso neutrino beam, 2009 JINST 4 P04018 [INSPIRE].
- [42] OPERA collaboration, Discovery of τ neutrino appearance in the CNGS neutrino beam with the OPERA experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. **115** (2015) 121802 [arXiv:1507.01417] [INSPIRE].
- [43] OPERA collaboration, Final results of the OPERA experiment on ν_{τ} appearance in the CNGS neutrino beam, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120** (2018) 211801 [Erratum ibid. **121** (2018) 139901] [arXiv:1804.04912] [INSPIRE].
- [44] OPERA collaboration, Final results of the search for $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$ oscillations with the OPERA detector in the CNGS beam, JHEP 06 (2018) 151 [arXiv:1803.11400] [INSPIRE].
- [45] LHCb collaboration, SciFi a large scintillating fibre tracker for LHCb, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 845 (2017) 481 [INSPIRE].
- [46] GEANT4 collaboration, GEANT4 a simulation toolkit, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 506 (2003) 250 [INSPIRE].
- [47] T. Sjöstrand et al., An introduction to PYTHIA 8.2, Comput. Phys. Commun. 191 (2015)
 159 [arXiv:1410.3012] [INSPIRE].
- [48] T. Sjöstrand, S. Mrenna and P.Z. Skands, PYTHIA 6.4 physics and manual, JHEP 05 (2006) 026 [hep-ph/0603175] [INSPIRE].
- [49] C. Andreopoulos et al., The GENIE neutrino Monte Carlo generator, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 614 (2010) 87 [arXiv:0905.2517] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J. Blümlein and J. Brunner, New exclusion limits on dark gauge forces from proton Bremsstrahlung in beam-dump data, Phys. Lett. B 731 (2014) 320 [arXiv:1311.3870]
 [INSPIRE].
- [51] A. Celentano, L. Darmé, L. Marsicano and E. Nardi, New production channels for light dark matter in hadronic showers, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 075026 [arXiv:2006.09419] [INSPIRE].

- [52] L. Buonocore, C. Frugiuele, F. Maltoni, O. Mattelaer and F. Tramontano, Event generation for beam dump experiments, JHEP 05 (2019) 028 [arXiv:1812.06771] [INSPIRE].
- [53] Y. Kahn, G. Krnjaic, J. Thaler and M. Toups, DAEδALUS and dark matter detection, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 055006 [arXiv:1411.1055] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Gardner, R.J. Holt and A.S. Tadepalli, New prospects in fixed target searches for dark forces with the SeaQuest experiment at Fermilab, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 115015
 [arXiv:1509.00050] [INSPIRE].
- [55] M. Bonesini, A. Marchionni, F. Pietropaolo and T. Tabarelli de Fatis, On particle production for high-energy neutrino beams, Eur. Phys. J. C 20 (2001) 13 [hep-ph/0101163] [INSPIRE].
- [56] B. Döbrich, J. Jaeckel and T. Spadaro, Light in the beam dump ALP production from decay photons in proton beam-dumps, JHEP 05 (2019) 213 [Erratum ibid. 10 (2020) 046]
 [arXiv:1904.02091] [INSPIRE].
- [57] SHIP collaboration, *Heavy flavour cascade production in a beam dump*, CERN-SHiP-NOTE-2015-009, (2015).
- [58] SHIP collaboration, Measurement of the muon flux for the SHiP experiment, arXiv:2001.04784 [INSPIRE].
- [59] L. Buonocore, C. Frugiuele and P. deNiverville, Hunt for sub-GeV dark matter at neutrino facilities: a survey of past and present experiments, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 035006 [arXiv:1912.09346] [INSPIRE].
- [60] E. Fermi, On the theory of the impact between atoms and electrically charged particles, Z. Phys. 29 (1924) 315 [INSPIRE].
- [61] E.J. Williams, Nature of the high-energy particles of penetrating radiation and status of ionization and radiation formulae, Phys. Rev. 45 (1934) 729 [INSPIRE].
- [62] C.F. von Weizsäcker, Radiation emitted in collisions of very fast electrons, Z. Phys. 88 (1934) 612 [INSPIRE].
- [63] P. deNiverville, C.-Y. Chen, M. Pospelov and A. Ritz, Light dark matter in neutrino beams: production modelling and scattering signatures at MiniBooNE, T2K and SHiP, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 035006 [arXiv:1609.01770] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Faessler, M.I. Krivoruchenko and B.V. Martemyanov, Once more on electromagnetic form factors of nucleons in extended vector meson dominance model, Phys. Rev. C 82 (2010) 038201 [arXiv:0910.5589] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D.E. Morrissey and A.P. Spray, New limits on light hidden sectors from fixed-target experiments, JHEP 06 (2014) 083 [arXiv:1402.4817] [INSPIRE].
- [66] D. Gorbunov, A. Makarov and I. Timiryasov, Decaying light particles in the SHiP experiment: signal rate estimates for hidden photons, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 035027 [arXiv:1411.4007] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Berlin, S. Gori, P. Schuster and N. Toro, Dark sectors at the Fermilab SeaQuest experiment, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 035011 [arXiv:1804.00661] [INSPIRE].
- [68] J. Alwall, M. Herquet, F. Maltoni, O. Mattelaer and T. Stelzer, MadGraph 5: going beyond, JHEP 06 (2011) 128 [arXiv:1106.0522] [INSPIRE].
- [69] R.D. Ball et al., Parton distributions with LHC data, Nucl. Phys. B 867 (2013) 244 [arXiv:1207.1303] [INSPIRE].

- [70] NNPDF collaboration, Parton distributions with QED corrections, Nucl. Phys. B 877 (2013) 290 [arXiv:1308.0598] [INSPIRE].
- [71] S. Alekhin et al., A facility to Search for Hidden Particles at the CERN SPS: the SHiP physics case, Rept. Prog. Phys. 79 (2016) 124201 [arXiv:1504.04855] [INSPIRE].
- [72] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, *Review of particle physics*, *Phys. Rev. D* 98 (2018) 030001 [INSPIRE].
- [73] A. Alexandrov et al., Improving the detection efficiency in nuclear emulsion trackers, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 776 (2015) 45 [INSPIRE].
- [74] OPERA collaboration, New results on $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\tau}$ appearance with the OPERA experiment in the CNGS beam, JHEP **11** (2013) 036 [Erratum ibid. **04** (2014) 014] [arXiv:1308.2553] [INSPIRE].
- [75] NOMAD collaboration, A precise measurement of the muon neutrino-nucleon inclusive charged current cross-section off an isoscalar target in the energy range $2.5 < E_{\nu} < 40 \text{ GeV}$ by NOMAD, Phys. Lett. B 660 (2008) 19 [arXiv:0711.1183] [INSPIRE].
- [76] MINIBOONE collaboration, Measurement of neutrino-induced charged-current charged pion production cross sections on mineral oil at $E_{\nu} \sim 1 \text{ GeV}$, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 052007 [arXiv:1011.3572] [INSPIRE].
- [77] NOMAD collaboration, A study of quasi-elastic muon neutrino and antineutrino scattering in the NOMAD experiment, Eur. Phys. J. C 63 (2009) 355 [arXiv:0812.4543] [INSPIRE].
- [78] J.A. Formaggio and G.P. Zeller, From eV to EeV: neutrino cross sections across energy scales, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012) 1307 [arXiv:1305.7513] [INSPIRE].
- [79] M. Duerr, T. Ferber, C. Hearty, F. Kahlhoefer, K. Schmidt-Hoberg and P. Tunney, *Invisible and displaced dark matter signatures at Belle II*, *JHEP* 02 (2020) 039 [arXiv:1911.03176] [INSPIRE].
- [80] R. Alemany et al., Summary report of physics beyond colliders at CERN, arXiv:1902.00260 [INSPIRE].